PRAYING WITH JESUS:

40 DAYS: BEGINNING CHURCH REVITALIZATION









TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	7
DAY ONE	8
Do You Feel the Urgency?	8
Pray	8
DAY TWO	9
Preconceived Ideas	Ş
How About You?	9
Pray	9
DAY THREE	10
Fear or Faith?	10
Pray	10
DAY FOUR	11
The Unknowns	11
Pray	11
DAY FIVE	12
A Prayer of Praise	12
a Place for Praise	12
Pray	12
DAY SIX	13
Continue in My Word	13
Pray	13
DAY SEVEN	14
Inside Out	14
Pray	14
DAY EIGHT	15
Sanctify	15
Pray	15

DAY NINE	10
From Word to Life	16
Pray	16
DAY TEN	17
Returning to the Word	17
Pray	17
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-/
DAY ELEVEN	18
Who's in Charge?	18
Pray	18
DAY TWELVE	19
Believe	19
Pray	19
·	
DAY THIRTEEN	
Traditions that go Beyond Scripture	20
Pray	20
DAY FOURTEEN	21
All Authority	21
Pray	21
DAY FIFTEEN	22
Who Is This Man?	22
Pray	22
DAY SIXTEEN	23
	23
Conflict, Disagreement, Resolve Pray	23
DAY SEVENTEEN	24
Reconciliation	24
Pray	24
DAY EIGHTEEN	25
God's Word	25
Prav	25

DAY NINETEEN	26
Authenticity	26
Pray	26
DAYTWENTY	27
A Kingdom Agenda	27
Pray	27
DAY TWENTY-ONE	28
Serving in Humility	28
Pray	28
DAY TWENTY-TWO	29
Follow Who?	29
Pray	29
DAY TWENTY-THREE	30
Wise Leaders	30
Pray	30
DAY TWENTY-FOUR	31
Faith	31
Pray	31
DAY TWENTY-FIVE	32
Resources	32
Pray	32
DAY TWENTY-SIX	33
Followers of Jesus	33
Pray	33
DAY TWENTY-SEVEN	34
Priorities of Faithfulness	34
Pray	34
DAY TWENTY-SEVEN	35
Unity in The Body	35
Prav	35

DAY IWENTY-EIGHT	36
The Priority of Prayer	36
Pray	36
DAY TWENTY-NINE	37
Believe in Him	37
Pray	37
DAY THIRTY	38
The Imperative	38
Pray	38
DAY THIRTY-ONE	39
Praying, Preying, or Paying?	39
Pray	39
DAY THIRTY-TWO	40
Witnesses	40
Pray	40
1 ruy	40
DAY THIRTY-THREE	41
Loving Jesus	41
Pray	41
DAY THIRTY-FOUR	42
Plowing With Jesus	42
Pray	42
DAY THIRTY-FIVE	43
Shake off the DUST	43
Pray	43
DAY THIRTY-SIX	44
Overcoming	44
Pray	44
DAY THIRTY-SEVEN	45
Leaning on Jesus	45
Pray	45

DAY THIRTY-EIGHT	46
Endurance	40
Pray	40
DAY THIRTY-NINE	47
Worship and Missions	47
Pray	47
DAY FORTY	48
Still Much to Do	48
Pray	48



INTRODUCTION

From the beginning of time prayer has been the vital link between God and man. Adam and Eve in initially enjoyed intimate, face-to-face fellowship, but after they disobeyed God, their fellowship with Him was broken. Still, human hearts longed for fellowship with their Creator. Adam's and Eve's son Seth established the precedent and priority of prayer for all those who believe in the One True God.

This pattern continued throughout the Old Testament among men and women of faith. Noah spoke with God and "didaccording to all that the Lord had commanded him" (Genesis 7:5). Abraham and Isaac were men of prayer (Genesis 20:17;25:21), and Job was so thoroughly acquainted with God that even great personal loss did not cause him to doubt nor curse God (Job 2:10).

Hannah pleaded with God for a son, and prayed with heartfelt thanks giving when Heanswered her prayer (1 Samuel 1:11; 2:1-10). Nehemiah was driven to give up a significant career because of his prayer relationship with God (Nehemiah 2:5), and Esther and Daniel put their very lives on the line because of prayer (Esther 4:16; Daniel 6:10). We cannot read about the saints of old without being struck by their prayerful communion with God!

This same lifestyle of prayer continued in the life of Christ (Mark 1:35; John 17; Matthew 26:36-46), the apostles (Acts 1:14), Stephen (Acts 7:60), Peter (Acts 9:40), Paul (Acts 9:11; 1 Timothy 2:1-4), James (James 5:16), John (Revelation 1:10-11), and many others.

Martin Luther once said, ``Tobe a Christian without prayer is no more possible than to be alive without breathing.'' For your church to remain healthy, alive, and vibrant for the Kingdom of God, prayer is non-negotiable. It is our prayer that this guide will help you and your church begin, or continue, the journey to revitalization through whatever method God chooses as He enlightens you during this prayer journey.

The following pages of Scriptures, guiding thoughts, and suggested prayers are designed to help you move through seven critical dimensions of personal and congregational renewal that will strengthen and build the revitalization effort, as you bathe each one in prayer:

- 1) Searching My Own Heart (Days 1-5)
- Rebuilding Trust in God's Word (Days 6-10)
- 3) Honoring Christ's Lordship (Days 11-15)
- 4) Resolving Our Differences (Days 16-19)
- 5) Following Kingdom Leaders (Days 20-26)
- 6) Re-Establishing Jesus' Priorities (Days 27-33)
- 7) Patiently Awaiting Transformation (Days 34-40)

As you read, reflect, and pray, please feel free to add other Spirit-breathed insights to your praying.

(All Scripture quotations are from the New American Standard translation, unless otherwise noted)

DAY ONE

The Gospel of Mark carries the tone of *urgency* from his first words. "The beginning of the gospel of Jesus Christ, the Son of God... make ready the way of the Lord, make His paths straight." (Mark 1:1,3)

"...KINDLE AFRESH THE GIFT OF GOD WHICH IS IN YOU... FOR GOD HAS NOT GIVEN US A SPIRIT OF TIMIDITY, BUT OF POWER AND LOVE AND DISCIPLINE." (2 TIM. 1:6-7)

DO YOU FEEL THE URGENCY?

While many factors have contributed to your church's current condition, you cannot treat the situation with "kid gloves," as though your church's assignment is dispensable.

Your community needs a healthy, vibrant, growing church; the lost people around you need a compassionate, Spiritled, Great Commission church; and your fellow church members need the warmth, love, hope, and nurture of a faithfully Christ-centered, sacrificial fellowship. It's time to make ready the way of the Lord; to make His paths straight!

Read Mark 1. Underline how many times the word "immediately" (NASB; ESV), or "at once" or "without delay" (NIV), or "straightway" (KJV), appears. Shouldn't this urgency compel you and your church to embrace the revitalization process sooner rather than later?

PRAY...

Father, I realize the complete revitalization of Your church depends on my willingness to "make ready Your way" now. Jesus, this is your church, I surrender it to you; and I invite you to change me in every way necessary to make Your church a healthy, vibrant, Kingdom-focused people fully living YOUR WAY! Jesus, I "repent and believe the gospel" (Mark 1:15). Now is Your time, Jesus! Have Your way!! Use me as Your instrument. In Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY TWO

Read Luke 10:38-42

PRECONCEIVED IDEAS



This picture is my preconceived idea of what an ideal life would be — Smokey mountain backdrop, lush farmland, white-frame, two-story house with an old-fashioned wooden barn (should be red instead of white). Dreams. Ideas. Not necessarily God's.

HOW ABOUT YOU?

It seems each generation has their own ideas about what the church should do, how it should behave, what songs to sing, and what church buildings should look like, to name just a few areas of strong opinion. Are you willing to surrender your own ideas in order to see your church flourish once again in gospel growth, community impact, and Kingdom advance? Or are you worried and bothered about the potential that things as you have always known them might change if you embrace revitalization?

Martha loved Jesus and eagerly welcomed Him into their home, but she wasn't too happy with her sister Mary. Mary was sitting at the Lord's feet while Martha was distracted with all the household responsibilities. She demanded that Jesus do something about it, but Jesus's response tells us a lot about the things that cause us to be worried and bothered. Unfortunately, those things are usually the wrong priority. Jesus is the priority; making much of Him is the objective of vibrant churches.

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, I confess that I am often worried and bothered about nonessential things instead of keeping my attention fixed on You. Build a new perspective in my heart and mind that longs for spiritual life in our church regardless of what songs we sing, the type of chairs we sit in, or the kind of building we have. Please do whatever it takes to breathe life into us again for the glory of Your Name alone. I ask it in Your strong Name, Amen.

DAY THREE

"AND HE SAID TO THEM, 'WHY ARE YOU AFRAID? DO YOU STILL HAVE NO FAITH?'" (MARK 4:40)

FEAR OR FAITH?

Read Mark 4:35-41

Going on a journey with Jesus is *not* a guarantee for a trouble-free, uneventful adventure. Just ask His disciples. He invited them to cross the Sea of Galilee, and they gladly headed to the privacy of the other shore. Before long, however, Jesus' kind invitation turned into a nightmare of a storm.

Where was Jesus? Asleep. He understood where they were going and how they would fare on the journey. The disciples didn't, so they panicked. When their fear-filled pleas woke Him, Jesus stilled the sea and cautioned the men never to doubt what God is doing even in a storm.

The journey of revitalization will bring some stormy moments of fear. Will you gladly trust Jesus when things seem upside down or inside out? Will you choose fear or faith?

PRAY...

Sovereign God, Iknow in my head that you have created all things and in you all things hold together (Col. 1:16-17). Still there are so many things that I do not know or understand, so I am pleading with You, our Great, Magnificent, All-Powerful God, to calm my fears as we seek your restoring, revitalizing work in our fellowship. Keep my heart and mind at peace in Jesus, in whose Name I pray. Amen.

DAY FOUR

Of course, Mark's gospel account is not the only place in the New Testament wherein a sense of urgency is portrayed. John's gospel records words of urgency directly from Jesus' mouth. "We must work the works of Him who sent Me as long as it is day; night is coming when no one can work" (John 9:4).

Read John 9:1-12. Jesus healed the man who had been born blind in order to display the works of God through the man's life. List three things here that would display the works of God in your community if your church pursues, and experiences, revitalization:

1)	
2)	
3)	
,	

THE UNKNOWNS

Didyounotice the things that were unknown by the participants in John's account of the blind man's healing? His disciples didn't know why the man had been born blind. No one knew how clay could bring sight to blind eyes. The blind man's neighbors did not know how the blind man came to have sight. The blind man did not know where Jesus had gone after Jesus had healed him.

Every situation has unknown factors. Generally, wedon't like having unknown factors because we like to have everything under *our* control. But in the work of revitalization you will encounter unexpected unknowns for which you could not plan. What will you do with them? Will you be willing, just like the participants in the blind man's healing, to trust every detail to Jesus? Are you ready to entrust all the unknown factors in the revitalization of your church to His sovereign rule?

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, I must admit that the whole business of revitalizing our church is somewhat frightening. There are many unknowns. Yet, it is also exciting to think about the lives that will be changed and the influence we can have once again in our community for the sake of the Gospel! Still, Lord, I am sure there will be things about this revitalization that will be uncomfortable for me personally; things that will be out of my control. I want to say with all my heart today that -- I trust You! You spoke everything into existence! You are the substance by which all things are held together! Ibelieve You will gloriously handle all the unknowns that come intoplay in the complete revitalization of our church. I trust You to do it! In Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY FIVE

Read Psalm 111

A PRAYER OF PRAISE
Now, join the Psalmist in praising and thanking Godfor His goodness, His works, His righteousness, His gifts, His power, His redemption, and His covenant. Write words of praise below:
Lord, Ipraise you for your
A PLACE FOR PRAISE

You can probably remember when, in an earlier day, there was a general sense of excitement among your fellow church members; a time when the place of worship was filled with the praises of God's people. That is God's intent for the gathering place of His people. That is what Jesus expected to find when He entered the Temple in the First Century. "It is written, 'My house shall be called a house of prayer'... have you never read, 'Out of the mouth of infants and nursing babies You have prepared praise for Yourself?'" (Matthew 21:13, 16). Prayer. Praise. In His house. Among His people. Can it begin again with you?

PRAY...

Father, I can remember when we gathered with people on our church campus with excitement about You, Your goodness, grace, mercy and love. I remember when we filled our gathering place with praise to Your Holy Name. O God, restore those days among us through Your miraculous revitalizing work in our church. I believe it is urgent that You act now to restore us to Your purpose. We are desperate for You; change us for the sake of Your eternal and glorious *PRAISE!* Let Your praise fill our hearts and our gathering place once again.

DAY SIX

"IF YOU CONTINUE IN MY WORD, THEN YOU ARE TRULY DISCIPLES OF MINE AND YOU WILL KNOW THE TRUTH, AND THE TRUTH WILL MAKE YOU FREE." (JOHN 8:31-32)

CONTINUE IN MY WORD

Perhaps the most important dimension of revitalization is the restoration of God's people to a profound confidence in God's Word. Jesus' promises surrounding His Word are numerous. In John 8:31-32 He promises that faithfully giving heed to His Word on a continuing basis proves we are His followers. In John 15:7 He promises that abiding in His Word and allowing that Word to transformatively abide in us opens the doorway of prayer and allows us to bear much fruit for His glory. In John 14:23 He promises that those who keep His Word will be loved by His Heavenly Father and will eventually make their home with God. In John 8:51 He promises those who keep His word will never see death!

The beginning of a new week is an ideal time to recognize and confess any lack of confidence we have been demonstrating, real or otherwise, in God's Word. His Word is timeless and unfailing; it is fully dependable and trustworthy. Throughout the revitalization process you will need to daily profess your confidence in, and dependence upon, His Word. "Do not lean on your own understanding, [but] in all your ways acknowledge Him, and He will make your paths straight" (Proverbs 3:5b-6). "Your Word is a lamp to my feet and a light to my path" (Psalm 119:105).

PRAY...

Father, I confess that I have not always delighted in, nor trusted in Your Word. I turn from my faltering faith and ask Your forgiveness for my lack of confidence in Your Word; forgive my failure to believe that Your Word is settled in heaven forever. Today I am asking You to restore my full confidence in Your Word and that You will use Your Word to guide me, and our church family, through every phase of the restoration and revitalization process for Your eternal glory and praise. I ask this in the Name that is above every other name, Amen.

DAY SEVEN

There were plenty of accusations. "They want our property so they can sell it to fund their own ministries," suggested one opponent to the revitalization partnership being offered by a sister church. Another used scare tactics among the few remaining homebound members by overstating the value of the church's property and how a partnering church would use this value to their own advantage. Still another accusation came from the chairman of the few remaining deacons, "Those offering us assistance only want to make a name for themselves and they care nothing about us." These, and many other misguided, yet painful, accusations may very well be a part of your church's efforts toward revitalization. Despite their opposition, stay the course because part of the process of revitalization is the cleansing of hearts and motives among those who resist the process.

Sometimes there are church leaders who have lost their faith perspective and have forgotten whose church it is after all – if it is a church, then it belongs to Jesus. And he has the right to change whatever He wants to change in the restoration process.



INSIDE OUT

Jesus challenged the Pharisees on more than one occasion to be careful about putting on a religious front when, in fact, their hearts were yet unclean in motive or attitude. "Now you Pharisees clean the outside of the cup and of the platter; but inside of you, you are full of robbery and wickedness" (Luke 11:39). "Woe to you, scribes and Pharisees, hypocrites! For you are like white-washed tombs which on the outside appear beautiful, but inside are full of dead men's bones and all uncleanness" (Matthew 23:27). Not only must we make sure our attitudes and actions are pure before the Lord in this revitalization effort, but we must also pray for our brothers and sisters who are demonstrating something less than pure motives and attitudes in their reaction to God's work of revitalization.

PRAY...

Jesus, thank you for giving our church the opportunity for restoration and revitalization. Iknow the process will not be easy, but with You all things are possible, and we are trusting in Your ever-present help throughout the process. Please cleanse my heart, and the hearts of all our church members of any evil, conspiring, or uncooperative spirit in the revitalization process so that You alone can gain glory and Your church be reclaimed for Your great purpose. I pray in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY EIGHT

Read John 17:13-21
Use whatever resources you have at your disposal (commentaries, Bible software, Bible dictionaries, etc.) to examine John 17:17, and particularly the word "sanctify" as it appears in that verse. Write what you discover here:

SANCTIFY

In your esearch on the word "sanctify" you should have come across information that says "sanctify" means to "set apart for special use." The word comes from the Greek word from which we get the word for "holy" or "holiness." It is an action initiated and carried out by God Himself in the lives of His people. And in the case of Jesus' prayer request in John 17:17, it is a work God performs through His Word in the hearts and minds of His people. We are set apart unto God, out of this world, and beyond the reason and logic that drives humanity, through the work God does in us as we give ourselves to His Word. He "sanctifies" us in the truth, which is His Word. No tool in your revitalization process will be more valuable than God's Word. Keep it close. Read, study, meditate on, and memorize it daily.

PRAY...

Father, in keeping with Jesus' own prayer on behalf of His disciples present with Him, as well as for all those who would believe in Jesus because of the testimony of those first disciples, I plead with You for Your sanctifying work in my own heart and life as I give myself daily to Your Word. Let Your Word dwell richly within me, and within our church family, that we will be sanctified in Your truth, with all wisdom teaching and admonishing one another with psalms and hymns and spiritual songs, singing with thankfulness in our hearts for all that You are doing among us. I ask this in Jesus Name. Amen.

DAY NINE

Jesus is both the essence of life and the Giver of life. "In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God. He was in the beginning with God. All things came into being through Him, and apart from Him nothing came into being that has come into being. In Him was life, and the life was the light of men" (John 1:1-4).

"THE THIEF COMES ONLY TO STEAL AND KILL AND DESTROY; I CAME THAT THEY MIGHT HAVE LIFE, AND HAVE IT ABUNDANTLY." (JOHN 10:10)

This life that Jesus gives is not just fire insurance against an eternity in hell, but it is the very substance of life in the present. He knows better than anyone else exactly what your church needs in order to be a life-giving force in your community.

	FROM WORD TO LIFE	
Read John 5:24. Fill in the blanks below:		
'he who hears My word, and	Him who sent Me, has	life"
'[he] does not come into judgment, but has p	assed out of death into	" -
3	dgment, pass out of death's claws, and recei h, as you believe God's Word, His promises	
	PRAY	

Lord Jesus, help me to cling to Your Word as the very substance of life for me today and throughout eternity. Thank you for giving us Your Word; I want to thirst for it like the Psalmist, as the deer pants for the water brook, so let me soul thirst for You and Your Word. Use Your Word in me to build my faith and to help re-shape our church into an effective instrument for the Gospel in our Jerusalem, Judea, Samaria, and to the ends of the earth, I ask in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY TEN

 $Lord, Ilove\ Your\ Word; Ipraise\ You\ for providing\ such\ a wonderful road\ map\ for life\ and\ living.\ You\ are\ my\ hiding\ place\ and\ my\ shield; from\ now\ on\ I\ wait\ for\ Your\ Word.\ Iplace\ my\ own\ thoughts\ and\ ideas\ in\ submission\ to\ Your\ Word.\ Sustain\ me\ according\ to\ Your\ Word,\ that\ I\ may\ live\ the\ life\ You\ designed\ for\ me,\ and\ in\ so\ doing\ be\ a\ part\ of\ a\ renewed\ church\ family\ set\ upon\ the\ very\ same\ purpose.\ Uphold\ me\ by\ Your\ Word;\ strengthen\ my\ resolve\ to\ seek\ Your\ Word\ before\ the\ counsel\ of\ others,\ and\ then\ compel\ all\ of\ us\ together\ to\ obey\ whatever\ You\ say.\ We love\ you\ and\ Your\ Word.\ In\ your\ Son's\ Name,\ Amen.$

DAY ELEVEN

"Every church needing revitalization can assume at some point in the ups and downs of their existence that they lost sight of the Biblical model and structure of authority and must begin to recover it if any other patters of dysfunction can be addressed to ensure a healthy direction for the future. Authority matters. Who is in charge in your church? Jesus is the bridegroom of His bride. He is in charge. He is the one to whom the church must submittif it is to have life and experience the unity that only He can bring, for it came at the cost of His own life (Eph. 2:11-15)."

--Brian Croft, "Biblical Church Revitalization"

WHO'S IN CHARGE?

When Peter correctly answered Jesus' probing question about His identity, Jesus not only affirmed Peter's answer, but went further to explain what it meant for Him to be "the Christ, the Son of the living God" (Matthew 16:16). Jesus went on to say that "...Iwill build My church; and the gates of Hades will not overpower it" (Matthew 16:18)

As Brian Croft wrote in his book quoted above, Jesus is in charge. "He is the one to whom the church must submit if it is to have life and experience the unity that only He can bring..."

As a friend of mine often says when pressing someone for an honest answer, "If someone held a gun to your head demanding to know who was in charge of your church, what would you answer?" If it is anyone other Jesus Christ then some serious repentance, prayer, and reorientation needs to happen.

PRAY...

Read Matthew 16:13-20

Jesus, I acknowledge and submit to Your authority, and Your authority alone, over Your church. I am not the authority in our church, nor is any other person the authority. Please forgive me for any time that I have attempted to exercise my own authority in Your church, as though it belonged to me and not to You. Please restore a deep sense of humility among all the leaders in our church, and a glad desire to submit to Your authority alone. I agree with Peter, "You are the Christ, the Son of the living God!" and thereby You have full authority to reign in Your church. I surrender and submit myself to You, King of all kings, and Lord of all lords! Amen!

DAY TWELVE

Read John 9:35-41

On Day Four we read the earlier part of John 9 in which we learn about Jesus healing the man bornblind. In today's passage Jesus is having a conversation with some religious leaders about the blind man and his healing, not willing themselves to believe that Jesus had sufficient power to do such a miracle. Because of their stubborn hearts and unwillingness to believe, Jesus referred to the religious leaders as "blind" themselves.

List nere tne i	two greatest barrier	s you can taentify th	at will need to be ov	vercome in oraer jo	r your cnuren to b	e revitatize
1)						
2)						

BELIEVE

The Pharisees in John 9 were insistent that Jesus could not have the power to heal blind eyes. Only God could do such a miracle. So, they questioned the formerly blind man twice; they questioned his parents. Yet they could not disprove that Jesus had done something unexplainable to them.

Don'tyou want Jesus to do something unexplainable in your church? Don'tyou long to see Him restore Gospel fervency and evangelistic effectiveness in your church family? Jesus is the One who can do it! Not a committee; not the remaining members of your congregation. Only Jesus. Do you believe? Do you think He can solve, demolish, and overwhelm the barriers you listed above? Do you believe?

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, we have evaluated our situation many times, even prayed over it; honestly our prayers have often been without true faith that You could actually do anything about our plight. But today, Irenounce my own "blindness;" I turn away from my "blindness;" I embrace Your mighty power. You can do anything! I believe! You can walk on water; bring water from a rock; part a river and even a sea! You can raise the dead, and You can breathe life into dry bones! Jesus, I cry out to You, with the rest of my church family, pleading for Your miraculous intervention in our church. You are able! I believe You can overcome every barrier that stands against us, and I surrender my own defeatist perspective to your conquering grace! Jesus, come and do what only You can do in our church. In Jesus' Name. Amen!

DAY THIRTEEN

Read carefully through Luke 6:1-11 and write here how the Pharisees had misinterpreted and misapplied Exodus 20:8 in their

Luke 6:1-11 contains two specific instances wherein Jesus did something which did not fit the traditional understanding or interpretation of one of the Ten Commandments – "Remember the Sabbath day, to keep it holy" (Exodus 20:8).

approach to Scripture:

TRADITIONS THAT GO BEYOND SCRIPTURE
If Jesus were to visit your church this week, what are some of the things your church "traditionally" does that are not mandated by Scripture, but might be currently "treasured" as unchangeable as though they were mandated by Scripture? (In other words, some people might be upset if you don't do these things anymore; or some people might be tenaciously insistent that these things never change.) List just four things here:
1)2)
3)4)
$Can you recognize that things we often cling to, that do not come directly from Scripture are often some of the things that need to change in your church if you are going to experience revitalization? If not, ask Jesus to open your eyes to this reality, and then pray this prayer\dots$
DD A V

Heavenly Father, Ibelieve the testimony of Your Word—that indeed You created the heavens and the earth and that Your creative work was performed through Your Son, our Savior, Jesus Christ. Ibelieve and affirm that through Christ all things were created, both in the heavens and on earth, both visible and invisible, whether thrones or dominions or rulers or authorities; that all things have been created through Jesus and for Jesus. He knows best about all the rules that should be associated with His creation and His church, which He bought with His own shed blood. Therefore, Father, today I surrender all the preconceived ideas which me and my church have added to Your design or to Your specifications in Scripture by way of our "sacred traditions." I submit myself once again to the full authority of Christ and His Word. In Jesus' Name I pray, Amen.

DAY FOURTEEN

THEY WERE AMAZED AT HIS TEACHING; FOR HE WAS TEACHING THEM AS ONE HAVING AUTHORITY, AND NOT AS THE SCRIBES" (MARK 1:22)

Read Mark 1:21-28. In what two notable ways was Jesus' authority realized by the people?

Authority in His	(v22)
Authority over	_spirits. (v 27)

After His death, burial, and resurrection, Jesus declared His authority over everything! Matthew 28:18-20 records His words to this effect. What is the extent of His authority to which He refers in Matthew 28:18? "_____authority has been given to Me in heaven and on earth."

ALL AUTHORITY

Throughout His life, and particularly during His ministry, Jesus demonstrated His authority, until, through His death, burial, and resurrection, He unquestionably held *ALL* authority!

- Authority over creation (John 1:3; Col. 1:17).
- Authority over all tangible and intangible resources (Phil 4:19).
- Authority over disease and physical handicap (Mark 6:53-56; 7:31-37; 8:22-25; 10:46-52).
- Authority over the spirits (Mark 5:1-13).
- Authority over religion (Mark 11:15-18).
- Authority over man's plans (Matthew 16:21-23).
- Authority over sin, the grave, and death (1 Corinthians 15:50-58; Revelation 1:17-18).

PRAY...

Jesus, You have demonstrated that You stand alone in creation and human history as the One with *ALL* authority. I bow in total submission to Your authority. You are our Sovereign God, Lord, Creator of heaven and earth, and victorious Savior vanquishing sin, the grave, and death! I praise You and worship You above all other things, for You alone are worthy to receive glory, honor and praise. Please exercise Your great, majestic authority over our church and bring revitalization to our fellowship, our effectiveness, our missional life, and our ministries, all for the glory of Your Name! Amen!!

DAY FIFTEEN

"Who is this man?" is a question that occurred on several different occasions during Jesus' ministry. Some of Simon the Pharisee's friends asked this question when Jesus forgave the sins of the woman who anointed his feet with expensive perfume (Luke 7:49). Herod the tetrarch asked this question upon hearing about Jesus' ministry (Luke 9:9). His own disciples asked this question after seeing Jesus calma storm with just His words (Matthew 8:27). On each occasion Jesus had done something unimaginable; He solved an impossible situation; He prevailed where no ordinary human could possibly prevail.

WHO IS THIS MAN?
Read Luke 2:15-20 and 2:41-51
The Bible says that eventreasured the events, people, and surprise occurrences surrounding Jesus' birth and later His conversations with learned teachers in the Temple. In a similar way to those who asked, "Who is this man?" Mary pondered everything about this miraculous Son promised by an angel, and given to her by God!
He is God incarnate! (John 1:1-5). God in the flesh; Risen Savior; ever interceding at the right hand of God the Father on behalf of His children. That means His exaltation is for the glory of God and the good of His people. Yes, and even those who are a part of achurch in need of revitalization! He is your God! Powerful in every way to restore and renew all things for His glory!
PRAY

Jesus, please forgive my doubts about our church ever being restored to Your purpose. It is so hard for me to see how you can bring revitalization, but I am convinced again today, by Your Word, that You are Almighty God, Creator of heaven and earth; the One who walks among the stars and calls each one by name. The God of salvation and mercy. Nothing is too hard for You!! Please restore my faith in Your strength, wisdom, and power. And grant me faith to believe that nothing is impossible for You! I ask this in the Name above all other names. Amen!

DAY SIXTEEN



The spectacular views of the Grand Canyon remind us not only of God's greatness and His sovereign rule over His creation, but also the deep chasms that can occur in a church family that often precipitate the need for the revitalization your church family now seeks.

CONFLICT, DISAGREEMENT, RESOLVE

Bill Henard, in his book <u>Can These Bones Live?</u>, says that "One of the primary reasons that a church turns inward comes from present or past conflicts within the congregation," and that "problems and conflicts occur in all churches of all sizes, "and that "unforgiveness represents the foremost internal conflict most often ignored in the church" (Chapter 8). Unforgiving hearts are usually one of the primary causes of spiritual decline both personally and within the church. That's why there are so many exhortations in the Bible like these:

- Let all bitterness and wrath and anger and clamor and slander be put away from you, along with all malice. Be kind to one another, tender-hearted, forgiving each other, just as God in Christ also has forgiven you" (Ephesians 5:31-32).
- "So, as those who have been chosen of God, holy and beloved, put on a heart of compassion, kindness, humility, gentleness and patience; bearing with one another, and forgiving each other, whoever has a complaint against anyone; just as the Lord forgave you, so also should you" (Colossians 3:12-13).

PRAY...

Father God, I thank you that in Christ You have for given me all my sins and reckoned me as righteous through the atonement of Christ. I have gladly received Your for giveness; make me equally glad to extend the same for giveness to those who offend, disappoint, or hurt me. Transform my tendency to hold grudges into Christlike mercy toward others. Dissolve all my inner bitterness and unfor giveness in the shed blood of Jesus, and restore to me a clean heart out of which I gladly for give others. I ask this in Your Son's Name, Amen.

DAY SEVENTEEN

THEREFORE, IF YOU ARE PRESENTING YOUR OFFERING AT THE ALTAR, AND
THERE REMEMBER THAT YOUR BROTHER HAS SOMETHING AGAINST YOU,
LEAVE YOUR OFFERING THERE BEFORE THE ALTAR AND GO; FIRST BE
RECONCILED TO YOUR BROTHER, AND THEN COME AND PRESENT YOUR
OFFERING." (MATTHEW 5:23-24)

RECONCILIATION

I had not been their pastor very long. In an effort to become acquainted with the older members of the congregation, I invited one long-time member to be my visitation partner for a few months. The first time we went visiting together he surprised me at the end of the afternoon. Pulling into the church parking lot he reached into his shirt pocket to reveal a note card with the names of ten men written on it. "Pastor," he began, "these ten men have deeply offended me and I want them brought before the church to answer for what they have done." As we talked, I learned that he had been carrying this list of names around for more than three years, but had never attempted reconciliation with any one of them. Biblical reconciliation was missing from his demand; he was only interested in revenge.

Perhaps you need to be reconciled to a brother or sister in Christ. Perhaps others in your church family are at distant odds over some issue or another. Regardless what the offense, without forgiveness and reconciliation, your church will continue to struggle and revitalization attempts will be stymied.

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, we are a broken people, and among us we have broken relationships that, apart from Your grace, will continue to hamper the fellowship and the effectiveness of our church. Please show Yourself strong by surfacing every previous offense that is strangling us, and compel us, by Your Holy Spirit, to speak the truth in love to one another and to offer to one another the same for giveness which You have so generously given to us. Please break down every stronghold of bitterness and unfor giveness in our fellowship, and replace it with the fruit of Your Holy Spirit. I humbly ask in Your Name. Amen.

DAY EIGHTEEN

"God's Word and Spirit are so powerful that they can not only build a healthy church, but even take a dying, broken, discouraged congregation and give it renewed life, causing it to flourish far beyond what its founders ever imagined." These are words written by Pastor Brian Croft in his article "Five Unexpected Lessons in Church Revitalization," and recorded in a 9Marks Journal entitled, Revitalize: Why We Must Reclaim Dying Churches - and How.

GOD'S WORD		
Read John 15:1-11		
Identify three things Jesus talks about in this passage that need to be either developed or initiated, or advanced among your church family. List them here as three specific prayer requests: "Father, shape us into a church that		
1.	_	
2		
3. —		
_		
Include these three prayer requests in your prayer below		
PRAY		

Jesus, thank you for teaching us in John 15 about faithfully abiding in You and Your Word, bearing fruit, being pruned, staying connected to You as our life source, prayer, obedience to Your commandments, love, and joy. Our church family is desperate for You to do a new work among us in these areas (include your prayer requests here)...

In Jesus' Name I pray, Amen.

DAY NINETEEN

Read Matthew 6:1-15

This passage of Scripture links prayer in a believer's life with at least three critical heart elements. These heart elements, when laid bare by the work of the Holy Spirit, reveal whether or not abeliever is rightly aligned with God's heart:

- Theatrics = "beware of practicing your righteousness before men to be noticed by them" (6:1,5)
- Verbosity = "when you are praying, do not use meaningless repetition" (6:7)
- Forgiveness = "forgive us our debts, as we also have forgiven our debtors" (6:12,14-15)

AUTHENTICITY

There is no place in Christ's church for hypocrisy. Jesus warned His followers not to make their faith activities a performance to impress others (Matthew 6:1,5,16). Neither should believers judge others because there is yet plenty in their own lives to be judged (Matthew 7:1-5). Instead Jesus both lived and taught authenticity in our relationship with Him and with one another. Are either of these statements true about you or about any one in your church family?

- "This people honors Me with their lips, but their heart is far from Me, but in vain do they worship Me, teaching as doctrines the precepts of men" (Matthew 15:8-9).
- "For out of the heart come evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, slanders. These are the things which defile the man..." (Matthew 15:19-20a)

When we fail to be authentic with Jesus, we will undoubtedly be playing a masquerade with our fellow believers. Let's repent of our lack of authenticity and come clean with Jesus about our hypocrisy today.

PRAY...

Father God, I want to come clean about my hypocrisy. It is creating chaos in my walk with You and in my relationships with my brothers and sisters in Christ. Please forgive me for not living an authentic Christian life, and by Yourgrace empower me to live soberly and uprightly in my walk with You and in my relationships with fellow believers. Idesire to walk in the Lightas You Yourself are the Light, so that I can have Biblical fellowship with other believers and so I can walk in authenticity with You. Behonored today in all my relationships, as I cast off hypocrisy and embrace the life of Christ. I ask this in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY TWENTY

"BUT SEEK HIS KINGDOM, AND THESE THINGS WILL BE ADDED TO YOU"
(LUKE 12:31)

HH . 1	_
What does it mean to "seek His Kingdom?" (be as concise as possible)	

A KINGDOM AGENDA

In the context of Luke 12 and Matthew 6, Jesus teaches that a Kingdom agenda means...

- A soul is more important than riches (Luke 12:16-21).
- Faith is more important than food, clothing, or life span (Luke 12:22-30).
- Eternity is more important than possessions (Luke 12:33-34).

Doyour personal priorities line up with those that Jesus prescribes? In what ways does your life currently reflect this agenda?

Do your church's priorities line up with those that Jesus prescribes? In what ways does your church currently reflect this agenda?

PRAY...

Jesus, at least part of the reason our church needs Your revitalizing grace and restoration is because over time we have drifted away from Your Kingdom agenda. We have adopted our own agenda and we have lost sight of what You value. Please for give us; please for give me. We do not want to pursue our own agenda any longer. We long to pursue You, even as the deer pants for the water brook, OL ord, our souls long for You above all else. Please fill our hearts with renewed vigor to passionately pursue You and Your Kingdom agenda for our church. Set us free from the bondage of self is hand self-centered pursuits to hunger and thirst after righteousness alone. In Your Name I pray, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-ONE

Jesustaughtquitea bit about Kingdom leadership through both His instructions to His disciples, as well as through His rebukes to the scribes and Pharisees. Combined, we get a clear picture of Jesus' expectations for Kingdom leaders and the strategic importance of their influence upon those they lead.

Read Mark 9:33-37

What is the primary characteristic a follower of Jesus should display if they expect to be exalted, or known as a gr	eat person ir
Christ's Kingdom?	

SERVING IN HUMILITY

Those who lead in any local church should first take on the same clothing as Christ in His incarnation. "Do nothing from selfishness or empty conceit, but with humility of mind regard one another as more important than yourselves; do not merely look out for your own personal interests, but also for the interests of others. Have this attitude in yourselves which was also in Christ Jesus, who, although he existed in the form of God, did not regard equality with God a thing to be grasped, but emptied Himself, taking the form of a bond servant, and being made in the likeness of men. Being found in appearance as a man, He humbled Himself by becoming obedient to the point of death, even death on a cross" (Philippians 2:3-8). It is not stretching things to suggest that this should be the first mark of anyone who leads in your church family. Do others identify you as a humble servant of others? Ask God to make you more like His Son in this area.

PRAY...

Holy Spirit, I plead with You to override my humanity and fill me with Your fruit—love and joy and peace and patience and kindness and goodness and gentleness and faithfulness and self-control—so that in all my conversations, and in all my relationships, and in all my patterns of behavior, I will be a humble and delightful servant of blessing to all the people around me. Within the context of our church family compel each of us by Your grace to be devoted to one another in brotherly love in the same pattern by which Jesus demonstrated His love toward us; and cause us to outdo one another in showing honor to each other day after day. Use our humble serving to restore our fellowship and our witness, and to revitalize our church for Your glorious praise. I ask this in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY TWENTY-TWO

Apart from Christ, serving others humbly, does not come naturally. It is the supernatural work of God in a believer's life. In yesterday's Scripture focus Jesus reprimanded His disciples for their unabashed, competitive clamoring for greatness among themselves. Today's Scripture reveals an even harsher rebuke from Christ about the scribes and Pharisees, the appointed leaders of the Jewish religion.

Read Matthew 23:1-12

FOLLOW WHO?

"The scribes and the Pharisees have seated themselves in the chair of Moses; therefore all that they tell you, do and observe, but do not do according to their deeds, for they say things and do not do them" (Matthew 23:2-3).

Those who are worthy of being followed, lead others by their own example of humility. They do not strive for their own honor, but to honor others. Those who practice such a lifestyle have earned your confidence; follow their lead as they follow Christin the process of church revitalization. Paul told the Corinthian church, "Follow my example as I follow the example of Christ" (1 Corinthians 11:1, NIV).

PRAY...

Heavenly Father, our church family often has differing opinions about how to address all of the areas in our fellowship that need Your renewing touch. Please unify us around the cross of Jesus, and by Your sovereign grace, to follow those whom You have appointed to lead us through this challenging journey. Help us to walk in love, just as Christ also loved us and gave Himself up for us. Do not allow a single word of criticism or filthiness or silly talk or coarse jesting escape from our mouths, but only the giving of thanks and words of appreciation for those who are guiding us to follow You. In the mighty name of Jesus, I ask, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-THREE

Read Matthew 20:20-28	
Jesus describes two kinds of leaders in this pa of leader demonstrates:	ssage. In your own words below write out the defining characteristics each kind
Rulers of the Gentiles	Followers of Jesus
Which do you intend to be?	
	WISE LEADERS
know they will never be able to lead in the and the help of others" (p. 65). Faithful fo	book, <u>Revitalize Your Church through Gospel Recovery</u> , "The wise leaders birown power and wisdom. They need both the power and wisdom of Godollowers of Jesus know that the key to their ability to lead others in doing His Word, and living in obedience to the teachings of God's Word, fully

Lord Jesus we need leaders who do not try to use human ingenuity and cleverness to bring Your strength back into our church family. We need leaders who depend on You and the counsel of Your Word. Please instruct our leaders daily with Your Word; inspire and motivate them by Your Spirit to obedience and faithfulness. And as we who follow them travel in their footsteps, grant them humility and grant us grace. Restore our church to a Biblical model of servant leadership where Christis exalted in every decision, and where Your people delight to follow those who follow You. In Jesus' Name, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-FOUR

"Those who believe God is able to bring about remarkable things lead revitalized churches. But make no mistake: God's level of blessing typically rises to the level of our expectation. Look at pastors in history who led revitalizing churches, from McCheyne to Spurgeon, from Baxterto Criswell. These men all had a compelling vision to do something for which only God could be given credit... Sometimes we are so a fraid of being presumptuous in our faith we end up believing God for little to nothing. What is happening in your life and ministry just now that can only be explained by the fact that Jesus rose from the dead?"

--Alvin Reid, in REVITALIZE Your Church Through Gospel Recovery (pp. 42, 44-45)

FAITH

Read Matthew 17:14-21

Jesus' frustration in this passage is not about the "size" of the disciples' faith, but the kind of faith they lacked – believing, vibrant, living faith! Jesus said, "You unbelieving and perverted generation..." (17:17), and, "if you have faith the size of a mustard seed..." (17:20), you will be able to see miracles occur! Again, it is not your size of faith that matters as you seek God's revitalizing, restoring power in your church. It is a matter of heart-felt, vibrant, living faith in the God of the impossible, even as small as a mustard seed!

PRAY...

Father, Ibelieve You alone are God; there is no other! You are the author of our salvation and You are the means by which revitalization will happen in my life and in our church. Ijoin the cry of the convulsing boy's father when he cried out, "Idobelieve; help my unbelief" (Mark 9:24). Strengthen my faith every single day to keep trusting You alone to do the miraculous in our church! Ibelieve You are more than able to do more than I can even ask or imagine, so please do it as you build my faith every day. In Your Son's Name I pray, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-FIVE

A mountain is a beautiful reminder of the power of God! Not only is He the maker of those mountains, but He is able to move them as He desires. Whatever we face as an impossibility is NEVER too big for Him!



RESOURCES

Jesus feeding five thousand men, plus women and children, with five loaves of bread and two fish, is a miracle recorded by all four Gospel writers (Matthew 14:13-21; Mark 6:32-44; Luke 9:10-17; John 6:5-13). Additionally, both Matthew and Mark record Jesus' second miraculous feeding, this time for just four thousand men, plus women and children. Two incredible miracles with insufficient resources for hard-headed disciples who had difficulty believing God can do anything with nothing.

God is still looking for people who will infect those around them with confidence in Him and not in what they might hold in their hand. God has resources available that we don't even know about. Quit looking at your own skills, your bank account or material resources, and look to God who can give us more leftovers than we had initial resources, if we will trust Him!

PRAY...

Jesus, I am often hindered by what I see instead of helped by what I believe about You in my heart. Please for give my failure to trust You to provide all the necessary resources for our revitalization as a church. I believe You want to transform our church into a powerful Gospel influence in our area, and I am choosing today to begin to trust You as never before, to provide all that we will need for this work. Show Yourself mighty on behalf of our church! We trust Your providing grace! In Your name I pray, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-SIX

Stephen T. Um and Justin Buzzard, in their book Why Cities Matter to God, the Culture, and the Church, remind us about the staggering importance of revitalizing all churches, but particularly those in the ever-expanding urban areas of our country and world. They write, "The future of our world will be profoundly influenced by what happens in the city. The world is in the throes of a sweeping population shift from the countryside to the city. The global urban population is growing by 65 million annually, equivalent to adding seven new Chicagos a year... [yet] in the second half of the twentieth century in America, many churches left [or died in] the city."

The place where your church is located is part of God's unique and masterful plan to impact the world with the Good News of Jesus Christ. It is of *HIGH STRATEGIC IMPORTANCE* that your church continue to impact your neighborhood, region, andworld!!

FOLLOWERS OF JESUS

Read Matthew 10:1-23	
Who is in charge of the disciples?	
List at least five specific instructions He gives His followers:	
(1)	
(2)	
(3)	
(4)	
(5)	
Who is in charge of the revitalization effort within your church family?	
Are you willing to do whatever He asks?	
PRAY	

Jesus, I am so grateful that it is not my responsibility to revitalize our church; thank You that You are more than able to handle this responsibility. I also know You will appoint others to lead various parts of the revitalizing work. Give me and our church family grace to follow their lead without grumbling or complaining; grant us eager hearts to obey Jesus and follow those He appoints to lead us, no matter how greatly we are challenged by the task. I look to You and Your provision of gracious patience and humility throughout the process. In Your Name, I ask this. Amen.

DAY TWENTY-SEVEN

Ilike what Bobby Jamieson says in his short article entitled, "The Bible's Burden for Church Revitalization." Using the church at Corinth as his example, he describes them as a church with "a potent mix of false teaching, immorality, division, infighting, and all-around worldliness... so when faced with these issues in Corinth, what did Paul do? He didn't say, 'Those people are hopeless. They're a mixture of false believers and proud, stubborn religious people. You don't want those people in your church anyway,'—and then commission Timothy to go and plant a new church in Corinth. Instead, he pleaded with them. He came to see them again and again. He rebuked them and instructed them and bore with them. In short, he worked to reform the church of God which was at Corinth."

That dearfriend, is what God is doing at your church. He is renewing, reforming where necessary, restoring, and revitalizing your church to match up with His plan, purpose, and priorities!

PRIORITIES OF FAITHFULNESS

Read Matthew 3:4-12

John the Baptizer rebuked religious leaders who were coming to him for baptism but who were not bearing "fruit in keeping with repentance" (3:8). In other words, perhaps Jesus' chief expectation, in this passage is TRUE FAITH. Before we can demonstrate faithfulness, we must have faith in Christ alone. This is true for individuals as well as churches. If all God wants is church members, then just as God can raise up sons of Abraham from stones, so too can He raise up church members from stones. What He really wants though, is people of faith!

PRAY...

Heavenly Father, lay bare every heart in our church family and reveal any false professions of faith. Guide each of our church members to examine their heart, and by Your grace confirm our faith in Christ alone, and for those who have nevertruly believed, bring them in total surrender to Jesus. Deliverus from religiosity and false professions and set us all free through faith in Your Son alone. In His Name, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-SEVEN

Read Luke 9:49-50

If we had to make a list of things Jesus highlighted as important for His Body, the church, unity would have to be near the top of the list. In today's passage, John expressed concern to Jesus that the disciples had recently met someone who was casting out demons in Jesus' name, and they tried to stop him from doing that because he was not part of the disciples' group. Jesus' response was clear, "Don'thinderhim; he who is not against youis for you!"

UNITY IN THE BODY

The Bible is full of expectation for the people of God to be unified through their faith. We aren't unified because we are alike; we are all very different from one another. Each of us is uniquely shaped and fashioned by God in our mothers' wombs. But Jesus unites us; our faith in Him is the strength of our unity.

Paul said we have "one Lord, one faith, one baptism, one God and Father of all" (Ephesians 4:5-6), and that we are one body born of one Spirit, with one hope in Jesus Christ! In short, we are already united in Christ, so we should live that way every day in our speech, conduct, attitudes, and behavior. In fact, Paul said we should be "diligent to preserve the unity of the Spirit in the bond of peace" (Ephesians 4:3).

PRAY...

Father, thank you for uniting all of us who have put our faith in Jesus with one another as individual parts of the collective Body of Christ. It is an amazing thing! However, I am often guilty of acting as though I am not connected to my brothers and sisters at all. Sometimes I criticize, gossip about, and generally act unkind toward some of my faith family. Today, Lord, I repent and ask for your cleansing for giveness and grace to wash me clean. Please return joy to our fellowship and revive our love for one another again according to Your Word so that despite our differences, we can be united in Christ and in His important work of revitalization. I ask this in Jesus' Name, Amen.

DAY TWENTY-EIGHT

"AND IN THE EARLY MORNING, WHILE IT WAS STILL DARK, JESUS GOT UP, LEFT THE HOUSE, AND WENT AWAY TO A SECLUDED PLACE, AND WAS PRAYING THERE." (MARK 1:35)

"You'd think if Jesus was the Son of God, He wouldn't need to pray. Or at least he wouldn't need a *specific* prayer time because He'd be in such a constant state of prayer. You'd expect Him to have a direct line to His Heavenly Father, like broadband to heaven. At the least, you'd think Jesus could do a better job of tuning out the noise of the world. But surprisingly, Jesus seemed to need time with God just as much as we do."

-- Paul E. Miller in A Praying Life, (p. 31)

THE PRIORITY OF PRAYER

Jesus needed regular, daily, direct communication with His Heavenly Father. So do we! He demonstrated and taught this Kingdom priority throughout His ministry. Your church needs prayer like never before! Part of the reason you are in the revitalization process is because somewhere along the journey individual and congregational prayer became a low priority and/or overlooked practice. I'm suggesting that prayer became your "emergency evacuation procedure" instead of your "daily strength and sustenance." What steps can you begin taking today in order to re-establish the priority of prayer in your own life, in your church's weekly schedule of activities, and in your church's gatherings?

Here's what my best friend says, "Pray like everything depends on God (because it does), and then get to work as though everything depends on you." The last part most of us have mastered; you aren't afraid of hard work. The problem is the praying; it is infrequent, powerless, and unfocused. Ask God to help you make a plan for how you are going to continue to pray faithfully after these $40\,\mathrm{days}$ are finished.

PRAY...

Dear God, I have neglected the moment-by-moment practice of prayer far too long in my own life. Please for give me, and by Your grace move me towards You every day by causing My heart to long for fellowship and communication with You all through the day. And sadly, Lord, our church family has lost our devotion to prayer and our prayers too often focus on the sick and dying, and not often enough on your Kingdom agenda in our community. Please for give us and stirour hearts to seek You as though we are completely helpless apart from You (which we are – John 15:5). I ask this humbly in Jesus Name. Amen.

DAY TWENTY-NINE

What is the one sign	ificant word that is used in eac	ch of the following verses: (Look up	and read each one)
John 6:29	Mark 5:36	Matthew 27:42	Luke 1:20
	The common word is		
		BELIEVE IN HIM	
Jesus is the Christ, faith. However, it the same faith—no	, the Son of the living God, a is secondarily areminder th	and having believed, to receive e at every moment and every situa -but to "have complete confiden	This, of course, is a call to believe that ternal life. It is a call, first to saving tion of every believer's life calls for ice in; trust and faith in; reliance upon
WILL NOT FAIL		lim! This is a critical Kingdom pr	you who have believed in Him; HE iority for all those who long to see
		PRAY	
			ssimply to believe in You! In fact, I

Lord Jesus, I am beginning to understand that the greatest work I can ever do is simply to believe in You! In fact, I recognize that there are no works for me to do to gain salvation. Neither are there any works I can do as Your child to please you more than to believe in You! Help me today to trust You. Focus my thoughts on Your mighty power, not my own limited abilities. Keep my eyes fixed on You, Lord, when I am tempted to look at the overwhelming odds against me. Move my feet forward in faith when I am frozen in place by unanswered questions and unknown destinations. I have believed in You Jesus! Thank you for saving me. Now give me grace to keep believing in You in every moment of my life and in every situation, especially this revitalization work You are doing now in our church. In Your strong Name I pray, Amen.

DAY THIRTY

Perhaps it is most accurate to say that of all Jesus' Kingdom priorities, the final standing order He gave to His followers is the one that should supersede all other priorities. Unity among believers validates our witness. Prayer empowers our hearts and minds to engage the disciple-making task among the nations, prayer accomplishes the miraculous. Believing faith keeps us moving forward despite difficulty, disappointment, and hardship. These all, as well as all other Kingdom priorities, undergird the primary task of the church – discipling the nations!

"ALL AUTHORITY HAS BEEN GIVEN TO ME IN HEAVEN AND ON EARTH. AS
YOU ARE GOING, DISCIPLE ALL THE NATIONS, BAPTIZING THEM IN THE
NAME OF THE FATHER AND THE SON AND THE HOLY SPIRIT, TEACHING
THEM TO OBSERVE ALL THAT I COMMANDED YOU, AND I AM WITH YOU
ALWAYS, EVEN TO THE END OF THE AGE." (MATTHEW 28:18-20)

THE IMPERATIVE

The one word in Matthew's "Great Commission" verses that is the *IMPERATIVE*, (the command), is "Disciple... all the nations." This is our assignment! Jesus used three PARTICIPLES to describe the disciple-making process—"going" (asyou are going), "baptizing" (those who profess faith in Christ), and "teaching" (obedience to Jesus).

PRAY...

Jesus, You have made our assignment quite clear. For give me, and for give our church, for so often being all wrapped up in lesser priorities that yield almost no fruit and do not contribute to the accomplishment of the Great Commission. We are choosing to turn away from such foolishness and to embrace once again the DISCIPLE-MAKING MANDATE You gave us just before Your ascension to heaven. Please empower us with Your Holy Spirit to be Your witnesses in our Jerusalem, and Judea, Samaria, and even to the ends of the earth. We long to see Your Kingdom come as You reign over the hearts and lives of those who have placed their faith in You alone, have followed You in believer's baptism and are seeking to obey everything You have commanded. Make us into a disciple-making church, in Your Majestic Name I pray. Amen.

DAY THIRTY-ONE

Read Mark 11:11-18

Bible scholar, pastor, and author Warren Wiersbesays of this text: "This 'religious market' was setup in the court of the Gentiles, the one place where the Jews should have been busy doing serious missionary work. If a Gentile visited the temple and saw what the Jews were doing in the name of the true God, he would never want to believe what they taught. The Jews might not have permitted idols of wood and stone in their temple, but there were idols there just the same. The court of the Gentiles should have been a place for praying, but it was instead a place for preying and paying." (The Bible Exposition Commentary, Vol. 1, pp. 150-151).

PRAYING, PREYING, OR PAYING?

What about your church? What would Jesus think of your gatherings if He visited your fellowship next week? Would He find you to be a praying people... or a preying people... or just a paying people. When a spirit of prayer marks a church family it welcomes people from the nations of the world, from the poorest to the wealthiest; from the youngest to the oldest; red, black, yellow, brown, white—all races and nationalities. When prayer is absent, there is too much sin and self on display and the welcome banners are missing. Do the people of your community feel welcome when they visityour church family? If you don't know, ask them. Better yet, breed prayer back into every aspect of your gatherings, from small groups to large groups, and you will find the nations being drawn to know our God.

PRAY...

Jesus, would You please bring a new spirit and aroma of prayer to the gatherings of our fellowship. We do not want to push You away from of our gatherings in favor of those things that satisfy our sinful natures. We want You to the center of attention every time our church family is together in any way. Please develop us into a "house of prayer for all the nations." Send forth Your Welcoming Spirit to all the people in our community and all those across our region, so that they feel welcome in our fellowship as we pray, worship, and praise Your Almighty and Wonderful Name. We don't want a single person, visiting among us, to be turned away from You because of our attitudes or behavior. In Jesus Name, Amen.

DAY THIRTY-TWO



Church leaders of declining churches everywhere are looking for that magic bullet, a new program that can be employed, a pre-packaged activity that they can plug and play...

But a church desiring church revitalization must begin developing disciples one-on-one and challenging those who are discipled to commit to discipling others. (Tom Cheyney in Thirty-Eight Church Revitalization Models for the Twenty-First Century Church, p. 26)

WITNESSES

Read Acts 1:1-11

The word "witnesses" in Acts 1:8 is from the Greek word *martus*, the root from which we get our English word martyr. We usually associate a martyr with someone who has had their life taken by enemies of the Gospel because of their faithful witness to Jesus. The centuries are littered with the deaths of believers who have been drowned, burned at the stake, beheaded, crucified, shot, stabbed, run over, starved, fed to various animals, or any other number of cruel death sentences.

Paul describes well the kind of witnesses Jesus intended His First Century and Twenty-First Century disciples to be: "For to me, to live is Christ and to die is gain" (Philippians 1:21). Whether we live or die is up to the Lord. What is up to us is, "Will I be a faithful witness today for Jesus?" It is an irreplaceable Kingdom priority for you and for each member of your church.

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, make me a faithful witness of Your grace in every and any situation. Open my mouth to declare boldly the truth of the Gospel, and give me the words that need to be spoken in every conversation. Ignite our church family with Your Holy Spirit to be Your witnesses everywhere we go and in every we relationship we have. In Jesus Name, Amen.

DAY THIRTY-THREE

Peter needed God's revitalizing power in his life. Once he had declared boastfully, "Even though all may fall away because of You, I will never fall away" (Matthew 26:33). Yet when things got crazy, Peter denied he even knew Jesus: "Then he began to curse and swear, 'I do not know the man!' And immediately a rooster crowed" (Matthew 26:74).

When the resurrected Jesus took a walk on the beach with Peter, He was asking Peter the same question He is asking each of you today, "Simon, son of John, do you love Me more than these?" (John 21:15). Do you love Jesus more than you love anything or anyone else in your life? This is critical for the revitalization and well-being of your church.

"SIMON, SON OF JOHN, DO YOU LOVE ME MORE THAN THESE?" (JOHN 21:15)

LOVING JESUS

Loving Jesus is described in several different ways in the Bible. Here are a few examples...

- "O God, You are my God; I shall seek You earnestly; my soul thirsts for You, my flesh yearns for You, in a dry and weary land where there is no water" (Psalm 63:1).
- "If you love Me, you will keep My commandments" (John 14:15).
- ➤ "Grace be with all those who love our Lord Jesus Christ with incorruptible love" (Ephesians 6:24).
- "and though you have not seen Him, you love Him, and though you do not see Him now, but believe in Him, you greatly rejoice with joy inexpressible and full of glory" (1 Peter 1:8).
- "If someone says, 'Ilove God,' and hates his brother, he is a liar; for the one who does not love his brother whom he has seen, cannot love God whom he has not seen" (1 John 4:20).

PRAY...

OGod, our Father, give me and every member of our church family an all-consuming love for Your Son Jesus! You have faithfully demonstrated Your great love toward us in that while we were still sinners Christ died for us. Fill our hearts with deep devoted love for His saving grace, His presence with us through His Spirit, and His faithful intercession in heaven right now on our behalf. Make us radiant lovers of Your Son, I ask in Jesus' Name, Amen.

DAY THIRTY-FOUR

In his book <u>Biblical Church Revitalization</u>, Pastor Brian Crofttells the story of his own experience leading a church through the revitalization process. In his conclusion, he says: "Church revitalization is a good and noble work. It is fraught with challenges, dangers, trials, and difficulties, and only men who are called and gifted for the task will be able to remain steadfast in them. However, for those who lean into this calling and put their hands to the plow, there are unique joys and rewards that come with this important gospel work."

"BUT JESUS SAID TO HIM, 'NO ONE, AFTER PUTTING HIS HAND TO THE PLOW AND LOOKING BACK, IS FIT FOR THE KINGDOM OF GOD'" (LUKE 9:62)

PLOWING WITH JESUS

One thing I learned while farming for Mr. Bartee back in the 1980's was that plowing and planting demands straight rows. In order to do this, he taught me to pick a spot at the other end of the field, point the tractor in that direction, and with your eye fixed on it don't get distracted. The same is true for the pastor, or church member, setting out on the journey of church revitalization—fix your eyes on Jesus and don't look back! It may be a long way to the other end of the field. Such a journey demands persevering faith, determination, and patience. Don't lose heart. Keep your eyes on Jesus!

PRAY...

Jesus, I am so grateful that You endured the cross, despising the shame, and now You have sat down at the right hand of the throne of God, Your work of redemption finished! Thank you for finishing!! Please infuse me and our church family with grace, faith, hope, love, and joy in our own journey. Guide us through every obstacle, setback, difficulty, and challenge; make us overcomers; finishers! Perfect Your finishing ways in each of us so we will see the victory You have in store for us as a result of this revitalization journey. In Your Name. Amen.

DAY THIRTY-FIVE

Read Luke 9:1-6

$Luke \ describes \ Jesus \ sending \ out \ His \ twelve \ a postles \ to \ preach \ the \ Kingdom \ of \ God \ and \ perform \ healings \ in \ this \ passage. \ His \ perform \ healings \ in \ this \ passage.$
$instructions \ to \ the \ apost les \ carry \ awarning \ that \ not every one \ will \ receive \ the mortheir message. \ What \ are \ the \ apost les \ and \ are \ the \ apost les \ are \ ar$
instructed to do when they encounter this kind of response?

They should

SHAKE OFF THE DUST

Shaking the dust off one's feet was a Jewish tradition symbolizing the proper disposal of heathen dust collected on someone's feet or clothing from traveling through Gentile regions. The symbolic act described by Jesus indicated that the apostles should regard those who would not receive the Gospel as unclean and as entirely responsible for their uncleanness.

Acts 18:6 describes a time when Paul did this in Corinth: "But when they resisted and blasphemed, he shook out his garments and said to them, 'Your blood be on your own heads! I am clean, From now on I will go to the Gentiles.'"

Paul didn't quit, give up and take his marbles and go home. He simply left the synagogue in Corinth, but he stayed in the city an additional "year and six months, teaching the Word of God among them" (Acts 18:11). He patiently persevered in the work God had assigned to him. And so must you.

PRAY...

Gracious Lord, Creator of heaven and earth, Perfector, Sustainer, Friend, please grant to me and to our church family such adeep, abiding confidence in what You are doing among us that we will not lose heart. Ibelieve that in due time we will reapif we do not grow weary. Under gird us with Your divine strength; use Your Wordeachday to keep us strong against the tide of our flesh pushing us toward the beach of indifference. Cause us to persevere in faith, believing that You desire to see our church renewed and restored for the glory of Christ! In His Name. Amen.

DAY THIRTY-SIX

"THOSE WHOM I LOVE, I REPROVE AND DISCIPLINE; THEREFORE, BE
ZEALOUS AND REPENT. BEHOLD I STAND AT THE DOOR AND KNOCK; IF
ANYONE HEARS MY VOICE AND OPENS THE DOOR, I WILL COME IN TO HIM
AND WILL DINE WITH HIM, AND HE WITH ME. HE WHO OVERCOMES, I WILL
GRANT TO HIM TO SIT DOWN WITH ME ON MY THRONE, AS I ALSO
OVERCAME AND SAT DOWN WITH MY FATHER ON HIS THRONE."

(REVELATION 3:19-21)

OVERCOMING

Jesus describes Himself in the passage above as an overcomer. He challenges the members of the church in Laodicea to be overcomers themselves. How will they do that? Obviously by the power of the Holy Spirit and the conviction in their own hearts to return fully to Christ in acts of zealous (glad, eager, quickly responsive) repentance.

Bill Henard, in partnership with the North American Mission Board, has written a tremendously helpful book for churches and pastors who are committed to the revitalization journey. In his book <u>Can These Bones Live?</u> Bill writes: "...do not ever give up on the church or on a church... Even Jesus, though Hestrongly chided the church in Laodicea, offered [a] very important invitation... if any church has ever existed that was in need of revitalization, the church in Laodicea was it, and yet Jesus di not give up on them." Nor should you, my friend, give up on your church. In His sovereignty, God will bring restoration to those whose hearts are fully His (see 2 Chronicles 16:9).

PRAY...

Lord Jesus, Your grace is amazing! Ipraise You for Your goodness, Your steadfast love, and Your loving kindness which endures from generation to generation! Thank You for not giving up on the church at Laodicea, and thank You for not giving up on our church either. We cannot accomplish revitalization without You, so we rejoice that You are with us in this journey, and that You will guide us through every decision and situation. Please make Your presence known to us in every step of our revitalization, and provide wisdom and counsel from Your Word and Your Spirit. I humbly ask this in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY THIRTY-SEVEN

Read John 16:1-15
Who is Jesus encouraging the disciples to trust once He is gone from their physical presence?
Will His disciples face challenges in their Gospel work?
The Holy Spirit is our Comforter and Friend because He:

- Convicts people of sin, righteousness, and judgment (16:8).
- Guides God's people in the truth (16:13).
- Discloses wisdom for decision-making regarding the future (16:13).
- Glorifies Jesus (16:14).

LEANING ON JESUS

Pastor Jeremie Rinne, previously serving in Massachusetts and now pastoring the Evangelical Church in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, describes leaning on Jesus, or trusting the ministry of the Holy Spirit, like this in his 9 Marks article entitled "Be a Tortoise, Not a Hare:" "The [patient revitalizing church] strives for renewal through a steady rhythm of weekly expository preaching, letting the Word do its transformative work. [They] commit significant time to prayer, calling on God to revitalize. [They] go slowly enough to know and listen to church members. understanding that you cannot truly reform what you do not love. [They] have an overarching confidence in God's sovereignty to bring about needed change, so that setbacks roll offlike rain off a shell... then when people ask how we turned our church around, we won't be flexing our muscles. Instead we will be able to say with all sincerity, 'The Lord has done this, and it is marvelous in our eyes."

PRAY...

Jesus, I am realizing more and more that You are the main player in the revitalizing effort our church so desperately needs. We are merely Your servants, and we like it that way. Keep empowering us to faithfully love You with allour heart, soul, mind, and strength while we pursue knowing You and obeying You. Please provide Your clear direction in our journey of revitalization. We are in this for the long haul, Jesus; willing to wait for You to put all the pieces together for Your glory. Make Your Name great we pleadingly request, in Your Great Name! Amen!

DAY THIRTY-EIGHT

Wayback on Day Three we examined the disciples' fear induced by a surging storm all around them—a picture of drastically changing circumstances. Today we are thinking about fear caused by a different scenario—fierce opposition to righteousness. It is a common occurrence for those walking with the Lord, to endure push-back or resistance from others. Sometimes this resistance is harsh and generates fearfulness.

If you are being maligned, or ridiculed for your embrace of the revitalization effort in your church, remember what Jesus said in Matthew 10:28, "Do not fear those who kill the body but are unable to kill the soul; but rather fear Him who is able to destroy both soul and body in hell."

ENDURANCE

John Folmar, pastor of Dubai Evangelical Church, in the United Arab Emirates, suggests taking "the long view when it comes to church reform. It helps to have a ten to twenty year time horizon. With a long-term perspective, we can more patiently prioritize the areas of church life that need to change. We can more contentedly operate in an imperfect ministry environment even as we ask people to forbear with our personal weaknesses as well."

--"What Makes a Church Reform Possible?" in 9Marks Journal, Nov-Dec 2011, Revitalize: Why We Must Reclaim Dying Churches

PRAY...

Father, the revitalization journey we are taking is not without its difficulties. I am confident that You know about them better than I do. However, I am often discouraged and tempted to give up because of the resistance I sometimes feel from others. Help me by Your Spirit to disregard the temptation to fear man and instead to trust You. Help me to walk in grace with those who do not yet favor the revitalization effort. Use our resolve to inspire others to surrender to Your plan for our church's future. I ask this in Jesus' Name. Amen.

DAY THIRTY-NINE

Read Revelation 5:1-14

This has been God's objective since before the creation of the earth—that all peoples, nations, tongues, and tribes would love, honor, adore, and worship Him. The revitalization of your church is for this express purpose above all else.

WORSHIP AND MISSIONS

Perhaps the most famous quote in this generation regarding the relationship between worship and missions comes from John Piper's classic book, Let the Nations Be Glad, in which he said, "Missions exist because worship doesn't."

It should be our strong, compelling desire that all churches be faithful contributors to this ultimate agenda—people from every tribe, tongue, people, and nation worshipping Jesus. Until that day arrives, we press on toward the goal for the prize of the upward call of God in Christ Jesus, doing missions for the sake of future worship.

PRAY...

Jesus, we long for our church to be a faithful partner and contributor to the work of seeing Your Kingdom come so that in eternity every tribe and tongue, people and nation will be represented! Please revitalize our church and make us an active, fruitful part of Your eternal agenda. Renewus; restore Your glory inus and among us; revitalize every aspect of our church to make us Christ-centered, Biblically-grounded, and Gospel-driven. Iask this for Your glory alone! Amen.

DAY FORTY

We began this 40-day journey talking about Mark's words of urgency at the beginning of His Gospel account, "The beginning of the Gospel of Jesus Christ, the Son of God... make ready the way of the Lord, make His paths straight." (Mark 1:1,3). We turn to Jesus, make His paths straight, and obey His commands because time is short for us to get the message to those who have not yet believed the Gospel message. Your willingness to pursue God's revitalization for your church is not really for you; it's for those you are strategically placed to reach for Christ!

"BUTOF THAT DAYAND HOUR NO ONE KNOWS, NOT EVEN THE ANGELS OF HEAVEN, NOR THE SON, BUT THE FATHER ALONE ... THEREFORE BE ON THE ALERT, FOR YOU DO NOT KNOW WHICH DAY YOUR LORD IS COMING" (MATTHEW 24:36, 42)

STILL MUCH TO DO

"The need for revitalization has never been greater in North America! An estimated 340,000 Protestant churches in America have an average attendance of less than one hundred. Research data tells us that in the United States more than 80% of the churches have plateaued or are declining. Each and every week we are currently seeing somewhere between fifty and seventy-five local churches closing their doors and not opening them again."

-- Tom Cheyney in Thirty-Eight Church Revitalization Models for the Twenty-First Century.

While the active, church-going, Christian population, by most measures, seems to be declining, and the U.S. population is definitely increasing, the church of the Lord Jesus Christ still has much to do in Kingdom advance and Gospel proclamation. Is your church going to be a full-fledged participant in this exciting assignment? As a friend often says, "We put our 'yes' on the table, and let the Lord tell us the 'what."

PRAY

Dear Jesus,

I will never ever get over the fact that You took my place on the cross and paid for my sins in full with Yourown precious blood! Thank you! I renew my surrender to You today, this moment! I am Yours to be used in whatever way You desire in order to bring about a complete revitalization in our church family. Please stirin us the passionate zeal of the young David when he overheard Goliath's taunting challenges to the armies of Israel; transform us through broken-hearted prayer and fasting like that of Nehemiah and Hannah; shape us into bold, fearless messengers of truth like Esther, Daniel, Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego; and give us a heart for the untouched, unreached, unsaved world like the Apostle Paul. Jesus, if You don't come through we are finished; but today Ibelieve that with You all things are possible! So, please, work Your miraculous work of revitalization in me and in my church, I ask in Your Everlasting Name, and for Your Eternal glory...

Amen.